ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County

Honorable Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANDRE NICHOLAS CRAWFORD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001216

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 15 2019

SC Court of Appeals

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by admitting photographs line-ups and an in-court identification of appellant by witness Martin, where Martin told the police, while viewing a photographic line-up, that appellant was in the "proximity" of the shooting when it occurred, and while remaining in contact with the police a month later, while viewing another lineup, Martin claimed appellant was actually the shooter, since this identification procedure was unduly suggestive and conducive to an irreparable misidentification?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Colleton County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and obstruction of justice. R. *. A pre-trial hearing on the identification procedure was held on December 11, 2017, before the Honorable Brooks Goldsmith. R. *.

Appellant's case was called to trial on June 18, 2018, before the Honorable Perry N. Buckner, and a jury. Tr. 1. Matthew Walker represented appellant. Tameaka Legette was the assistant solicitor. Tr. 2.

On June 20, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty on all four counts. Tr. 663, l. 16 – 664, l. 3. Judge Buckner sentenced appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment for murder, thirty years imprisonment for attempted murder, and ten years imprisonment for obstruction of justice. Those sentences were concurrent. Judge Buckner also sentenced appellant to a five year consecutive sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Tr. 683, ll. 3-21.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law); see also State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81-82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore and holding that photographic line-up procedure was “patently suggestive”). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” Id. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting photographs line-ups and an in-court identification of appellant by witness Martin, where Martin told the police, while viewing a photographic line-up, that appellant was in the “proximity” of the shooting when it occurred, and while remaining in contact with the police a month later, while viewing another lineup, Martin claimed appellant was actually the shooter, since this identification procedure was unduly suggestive and conducive to an irreparable misidentification.

Relevant Facts

A Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), hearing was held before Judge Goldsmith on the admissibility of an in-court identification by the surviving security guard, Bruce Martin. The other security guard, Jesse Guy, died of his gunshot wound which he suffered just moments prior to the gunshot injury to Martin. Detective Kurt Wallace of the Colleton County Sherriff’s Office testified he was “the secondary detective assigned to that case to help with the primary investigator.” PTr. 34, l. 6 – 35, l. 8.¹

Wallace lived in Goose Creek, South Carolina, and he was telephoned by colleagues in the very early morning hours of May 28, 2016, and instructed to go to Trident Hospital in Goose Creek to meet victim Martin there. PTr. 35, l. 9 – 36, l. 10. However, Martin was “heavily sedated. He was in critical condition. But he was aware that I was there and I advised him that I would be back and talk with him later when he’s in a better condition to talk.” PTr. 36, l. 25 – 37, l. 11. Wallace said, “He was in no condition to talk about anything.” PTr. 37, ll. 16-25.

Two days later, on May 30, 2016, Wallace again visited Martin in the Trident Hospital ICU unit. He was in much better condition. And I felt at that time I would be able to speak with

¹ “PTr.” refers to pre-trial transcript of the hearing held before Judge Goldsmith.

him, which I did.” PTr. 38, ll. 7-12. Wallace said that Martin “just basically told me how he saw the incident and what he experienced at the club.” PTr. 41, ll. 6-15.

Wallace visited Martin for the third time on Saturday, June 4, 2016. He showed Martin a photographic lineup. PTr. 41, l. 16 – 43, l. 20. Wallace asked Martin to point out the person who was actually fighting with his fellow security guard, decedent Guy. Wallace showed Martin a separate lineup and asked him to point out the person who was “in close proximity or that was in some shape, form, or fashion involved in the situation.” PTr. 43, l. 21 – 45, l. 7.

Wallace said Martin selected DaQuan Crawford, appellant’s brother, “as the person that he actually pulled apart or assisted in pulling apart and fighting . . .” PTr. 45, ll. 8 – 18. Wallace said he then presented Martin with a second photo lineup where “he actually circled and initialed Mr. Andre Crawford,” as the person involved who, “*was in close proximity to the situation.*” PTr. 45, l. 25 – 46, l. 18. (emphasis added).

On June 28, 2016, Wallace visited Martin at his home to speak with him again about the shooting. Wallace termed this “a welfare check.” PTr. 51, l. 4 – 52, l. 4.

The very next day, June 29, 2016, Martin came and talked to Wallace at the police annex. Martin told Wallace that he now remembered who shot him. Martin was then shown another photographic line-up: “He did not hesitate at all to circle Mr. Andre Crawford *as the person who actually shot him.*” PTr. 52, ll. 5-19; ptr. 54, l. 9 – 55, l. 17. (emphasis added).

The following occurred on direct examination of Wallace:

Q: Now, once Mr. Martin identified for you the person who was involved in the fighting as being DaQuan and the person who shot him as Andre Crawford, did he ever tell you anything else?

A: Yes, the main thing that he mentioned in this particular incident, *as he brought it back to memory*, he specifically said that while he was breaking up the fight or assisting in breaking up the fight, all right, he remembered a voice saying, That’s wrong what you’re doing to my brother. That brought -- that person saying that

is what made him look back to see where that voice is coming from. And that's when he said that he identified Mr. Andre Crawford. And upon that person saying, That's wrong what you're doing to my brother *and the minute that he actually looked back is when shots was fired.*

PTr. 55, l. 18 – 56, l. 8. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Wallace confirmed that he had visited Martin four times before Martin claimed appellant was the shooter on June 29, 2016. PTr. 57, l. 7 – 60, l. 10.

Defense counsel argued that considering the Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) factors that the ultimate identification of appellant as the shooter was “inherently unreliable.” PTr. 62, l. 6 – 65, l. 25. Counsel explained, “So, we’ve gone from can’t identify the shooter to oh, *I recognize these two guys as having been there*, which my client, of course, has admitted the whole time, along with a lot of other people being there, to June 29th, *no [now], I’m certain that this is the guy that shot me.*” PTr. 62, ll. 12-17. At one point, Martin just admitted, “I don’t remember, I just saw the gun.” PTr. 62, l. 18 – 63, l. 2.

Ultimately, on June 29, 2016, Martin claimed that he could positively identify appellant as the shooter. The accuracy of the prior descriptions by Martin about what appellant was doing that night belied that claim. PTr. 63, l. 4 – 64, l. 6. Counsel also pointed out that science was now showing that “certainty” in such eyewitness identifications – here meaning Martin’s alleged 100% certainty a month later – in reality was not scientifically reliable. PTr. 64, l. 7 – 65, l. 21. Counsel moved to suppress the identification of appellant as inherently unreliable. PTr. 65, ll. 22-25.

The solicitor said that this was a “traumatic event” and that Martin’s memory had “evolved and he was remembering more and more . . .” The solicitor asked the judge to deny the motion to suppress the identification. PTr. 66, l. 9 – 67, l. 12. The judge denied the motion to suppress the identification of appellant as the shooter without stating any reason or analysis.

The judge respectfully abdicated his responsibility in this case by stating the substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification pre-trial argument went to the “weight” of the identification evidence for the jury. That was reversible error. PTr. 67, ll. 13-18. Tr. 67, ll. 13-18; ptr. 388, ll. 2-19. Defense counsel renewed his objections to the line-ups used during the identification of appellant at trial. PTr. 375, l. 16 – 376, l. 25.

Jury in

At trial, Eric Bryan, the owner of Leon’s Social Club, testified the club was a “non-profit organization.” “We do shooting matches sometimes. We have parties, we have DJs. So, it’s a place where people come together to mingle and to socialize.” Only members were allowed to enter the club. Tr. 162, l. 7 – 163, l. 5. As will be seen infra, this painting of this social club by owner Bryan appeared very misleading given the facts to follow. All indications were that a very tough and rumble crowd – at least in part – frequently this club. Bryan even admitted to being afraid to go outside into the parking lot while carrying money. Tr. 166, ll. 11-24.

Bryan remembered the night of May 28, 2016. “I was a door man to get in. My job is to make sure that we maintain safety for all of our customers, all of our members. We do membership, so all of our members do have a membership card when they come in. And so -- because it’s a non-profit organization, we have to abide by that. And that’s per the department of revenue requires us to do that as well. . . . It’s not possible for someone to get in without having -- being a member.” Tr. 166, ll. 11-24.

Bryan testified appellant was not a member and he added: “he doesn’t come in the club. I know he wasn’t in the club that night, that particular night. So I know -- I see the faces and I know that he wasn’t in the club that night.” Bryan said he could not say whether appellant was outside the club in the parking lot that night. “I’m not sure because my role is not to go outside

and to patrol the premises because with that kind of money and that responsibility, they really don't allow me. And the security guards will tell you they just don't want me -- because if I take that kind of money outside, something could happen and then nobody gets paid." Tr. 169, ll. 5-11. Bryan explained that on a good night at the club -- which was open on Thursday, Friday, and Saturday nights, and sometimes Sunday night -- he could make "between \$1,200 and \$1,500 a night." He paid the disc jockey \$300 and he tried to give his bartenders a hundred dollars apiece. The security guards apparently were also given a hundred dollars each night. Tr. 168, ll. 9-20.

Bryan said he typically closed the club around three o'clock in the morning but he repeated that he did not go outside to see what was happening in the parking lot, because "it's too dangerous for me to have that kind of money going outside." Tr. 171, ll. 2-10.

Bryan said when the club shut down he always fed the DJ, bartenders, and security guards chicken wings made by his wife. "We have probably the best chicken wings in the state." However, this night, Bryan remembered hearing a "commotion" about closing time. "I was counting the money. I said, you know, let me put the money up . . . I checked for my bartenders, looked at them and made sure everything was okay." When he went outside, he saw Martin was laying "in the highway." He grabbed Martin's hand and he then realized Martin had been shot. Jesse Guy, his other security guard, had also been shot. Guy died during surgery at the hospital a short time after arrival. Tr. 173, l. 9 - 177, l. 17.

There was evidence that security guard Guy carried a taser. Tr. 209, ll. 4-21. The state's theory of the case was that Guy used the taser on appellant's brother, and that appellant shot and killed Guy, and shot and injured Martin. Tr. 209, ll. 4-21. Guy died of "lung and liver destruction due to a single penetrating gunshot wound to the back." Tr. 271, ll. 3-8. Guy was six

foot one and he weighed 289 pounds. Tr. 279, ll. 1-2. Martin, like Guy, was a large man, 6'1, 305 pounds. Tr. 428, l. 4 – 431, l. 2.

Anthony “Ant” Hampton was at the club on the night of the shooting. He did not know appellant but knew his brother. Tr. 296, l. 23 – 297, l. 23. Hampton knew appellant’s brother as “Red Dog.” Tr. 297, ll. 19-23.

Hampton said he could probably name about 100 people who were at the club that night, and he said he usually stayed “until it was closed,” which was about three a.m. Tr. 300, l. 2 – 301, l. 20. Hampton said that “Red Dog” sucker punched him, and they were wrestling on the ground when he heard two gunshots. Tr. 301, l. 21 – 307, l. 2. Hampton did not see who was shooting. Tr. 307, ll. 5-6.

The solicitor in her opening and closing argument admitted that the state’s case against appellant came down to the word and claim of Martin that appellant was the shooter. Tr. 147, l. 25 – 148, l. 4; tr. 591, ll. 1-8; Tr. 592, ll. 19-24. Police Officer Kelly Padgett acknowledged that the probable cause to arrest appellant was “the statement of Bruce Martin that he saw [appellant] shoot.” Tr. 353, ll. 19-25.

Kurt Wallace testified that appellant admitted to the police that he was at the club that night but appellant said he said not know who started the problem that led to the shooting. Appellant was not the shooter.² Tr. 364, l. 18 – 365, l. 23. When appellant maintained he left the club with Anthony “Ant” Hampton that night, Wallace had appellant arrested for obstruction of justice because appellant, Wallace believed, lied to the police about Hampton giving him a ride home. Tr. 368, l. 12 – 369, l. 8.

² The tapes of appellant’s statements, State’s Exhibits 31 and 33 are on file with this Court, and a transcript of one of appellant’s “hard to hear” statements, State’s Exhibit 44 is at R. p. *.

As to the lineups he showed Martin, Wallace testified “the first photo lineup I presented to him, he selected DaQuan Crawford as a person who was actually physically in the fight. The second photo lineup that I presented to him, he selected Andre Crawford *as a person of interest that was in close proximity of the fight.*” Tr. 374, ll. 20-25. (emphasis added). This was on June 4, 2016. Tr. 375, ll. 4-6.

Wallace remembered on June 4, 2016, Martin also told him, “It’s like a dream you’re trying to remember. You know you’ve seen something, you know you have a recollection of it, but you just can’t really remember what it was. He said at the time that -- that’s the reason why I advised him. I said, if anything comes to your memory, if you can please give me a call and let me know. He advised me that it was more he wished he could tell me that he could remember, but at the time, he just couldn’t, he just couldn’t remember.” Tr. 378, l. 20 – 379, l. 4.

Wallace said he then visited Martin at home on June 28, 2016. Tr. 379, l. 8 – 380, l. 12. Wallace said that Martin called him on June 28, 2016 -- apparently after the house call -- and Wallace asked him to come to the police annex the following day, June 29, 2016. Tr. 380, l. 13 – 381, l. 21. “We wanted to interview him in reference to what he now remembered that he didn’t remember then.” Tr. 382, ll. 2-5.

On June 29, 2016 Wallace showed Martin another photo lineup and this time, Martin claimed appellant was the shooter. Tr. 383, l. 3 – 384, l. 1. Martin now also maintained he saw appellant “holding the firearm.” Tr. 393, ll. 5-9.

On cross-examination, Wallace confirmed that during the first interview, Martin said that he did not see the shooter but slightly saw a gun. Tr. 397, ll. 13-21. On June 4, 2016, Wallace showed Martin a lineup in the hospital and Martin selected appellant’s brother, DaQuan Crawford, as being in the fight with the security guard, Guy. Martin identified appellant as being

“within close proximity” of the fight. He did not claim appellant had a gun or that appellant shot him or anything of that nature. Tr. 399, ll. 10-24.

However, on June 29, 2016, after the house call, when viewing another lineup with appellant’s photograph again in it, Martin now claimed that appellant was the shooter, and the gun was potentially a .40-caliber automatic pistol. Tr. 400, l. 22 – 401, l. 11. Wallace acknowledged that on his prior visits when showing lineups to Martin, Martin had “flashes of memory or incomplete [recollections].” Tr. 403, ll. 8-13.

Bruce Martin testified that Jesse Guy, the other security guard, was a good friend. They had worked in security together for the Navy. Tr. 420, l. 3 – 427, l. 1. Martin said he had probably seen appellant about five times at the club prior to the night of the shooting. Tr. 428, l. 4 – 431, l. 2. Martin estimated he had seen appellant’s brother between thirty and forty times before the night of the shooting. Tr. 433, ll. 2-20.

At trial, Martin claimed that Jesse Guy grabbed appellant’s brother and that Guy was yelling, “Taser, taser, and tased him [appellant’s brother] one time just to try to make them let go.” Martin maintained he saw appellant shoot Guy. Tr. 447, l. 2 – 449, l. 15; tr. 451, ll. 18-22. Martin said he did not recall telling the solicitor in October 2017 that appellant was wearing shorts, a gray t-shirt, and light-colored tennis shoes on the night of the shooting. “I don’t -- I recall saying something, but I don’t recall the date or -- I had a lot of interviews, so I don’t know exactly what day I said that.” Martin said he recalled viewing two or three lineups in this case. Tr. 479, ll. 7-25.

Martin said during the June 4, 2019, meeting with Detective Wallace, he told Wallace he could give him “bits and pieces of what I could remember, but nothing hard core.” Martin said, “hard core” meant “as the definite answer [as to] the person that shot me.” Martin admitted he

had been diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of the shooting. Tr. 480, l. 20 – 481, l. 5. However, Martin denied that his memory was not reliable, especially given his post-traumatic stress disorder. Tr. 483, ll. 9-15.

Martin said he saw three lineups in all, and he admitted it was only on the third lineup that he claimed appellant was the shooter. Tr. 485, l. 23 – 488, l. 8. Until that third lineup, the best that Martin could say was “the defendant’s brother [was] the fighter and the defendant being in the vicinity.” Tr. 487, l. 22 – 488, l. 8.

Discussion

“In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198. Under the totality of the circumstances, the factors to be considered in assessing the reliability of an otherwise unduly suggestive identification procedure are: (1) the witness’s opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness’s degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness’s prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977) (*citing* Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-200).” State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012).

The identification of appellant as the shooter in this case on viewing the third lineup with appellant’s photograph in it, and on the fifth visit with the police -- May 28, 2016, May 30, 2016,

June 4, 2016, June 28, 2016, and June 29, 2016 -- was highly unusual and very disturbing. As defense counsel aptly argued, “We’ve gone from can’t identify the shooter to oh, I recognize these two guys as having been there . . . to June 29th, no [now], I’m certain that this the guy that shot me.” Tr. 62, ll. 12-17. “As to opportunity to view, he was there, he either saw it or he didn’t.” Tr. 62, ll. 18-22.

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