**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Colleton County
The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001216

RECEIVED
MAR 18 2020
SC Court of Appeals
Respondent

THE STATE,

vs.

ANDRE NICHOLAS CRAWFORD,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910

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

evidence is for the jury to weigh.” *Id.* at 116. *See also Harker v. Maryland*, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1986) (The exclusion of identification evidence is a “drastic sanction” that is “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect”).

At the outset, Respondent would clarify five misleading points on which Appellant has based his assignment of error. First, he supports his argument with both testimony from the December 11th hearing and the subsequent trial.¹⁷ However, he is limited to the evidence presented

¹⁷ For instance, he relies on both Mr. Martin’s subsequent trial testimony and the testimony of defense witness Dr. Dawn McQuiston, an expert on eyewitness memory. However, neither witness testified at the December 11, 2017 hearing. Thus, the Court should not consider their testimony in connection with this issue. *Id.* *See also I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments”); *State v. Benton*, 338 S.C. 151, 157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (an issue is unpreserved if a defendant argues one ground at trial and a different ground on appeal). Moreover, to the extent that her testimony calls into question the Supreme Court’s reasoning in the *Stovall* line of cases, the reasoning of the Supreme Court controls. *See State v. Ledbetter*, 881 A.2d 290, 312-13 (Conn. 2005), *cert. denied*, 547 U.S. 1082 (2006) (reaffirming the validity of the *Biggers* factors for purposes of the Connecticut constitution and concluding that scientific studies on relationship between confidence and accuracy of identification were “not definitive”).

Respondent further notes that the appellate courts in the State of New York and the federal courts in the Second Circuit have consistently and quite correctly recognized that a victim need not testify at a *Biggers* hearing, and that the defendant is not entitled to compulsory process at such a hearing. *See People v. Chipp*, 75 N.Y.2d 327, 553 N.Y.S.2d 72, 552 N.E.2d 608 (N.Y. 1990); *Mitchell v. Herbert*, 01-CV-681, 2008 WL 342975, 8 (W.D.N.Y., Feb. 6, 2008); *Smith v. Smith*, 2003 WL 22290984, 6-9 (S.D.N.Y., Sept. 29, 2003) (rejecting argument that the trial court deprived defendant of his right to present a defense, as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, by refusing to allow defendant to call witnesses to testify at the hearing). *See also Jones v. State*, 395 Md. 97, 116-18 & n. 13, 909 A.2d 650, 661-62 & n. 13 (Md. Ct.App. 2005) (finding that defendant’s motion to suppress a pretrial identification made by a witness from a photo array was sufficient to place trial court and the state on notice of nature of defendant’s evidentiary challenge, and thus defendant was entitled at hearing on motion to call detective who presented photo array to testify to facts and circumstances surrounding identification procedure; however, explaining that “**Our holding today should not be read as creating an absolute right of defendants to call any or all witnesses at a suppression hearing.** Specifically, as the issue is not before us, we do

to Judge Goldsmith because the parties accepted Judge Goldsmith's denial of the motion to suppress as a final ruling on the issue and the trial judge did not make any additional rulings on the matter but, quite appropriately, accepted their stipulation. See *Kirkland v. Allcraft Steel Co.*, 329 S.C. 389, 393, 496 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1998) ("A stipulation is an agreement, admission[,] or concession made in judicial proceedings by the parties thereto or their attorneys. Stipulations ... are binding upon those who make them"); *Belue v. Fetner*, 251 S.C. 600, 606, 164 S.E.2d 753, 755 (1968) ("When counsel enter into an agreed stipulation of fact as a basis for decision by the court, both sides will be bound by such agreed stipulation, and the court will not go beyond such stipulation to determine the facts upon which the case is to be decided").

Second, Appellant maintains that police had contact with Mr. Martin five times from May 28, 2016, until he identified Appellant as the person who shot him on June 29, 2016. While true, it is a disingenuous and exceptionally misleading point. Although Det. Wallace testified that he went to the hospital on May 28th, he did not speak with Mr. Brown about the crime because Mr. Brown was "heavily sedated" and in "critical condition." Det. Wallace first spoke to Mr. Brown about the crimes on May 30th. On that occasion, Mr. Brown discussed what had occurred on the 28th. Det. Wallace next spoke to Mr. Brown on June 4th, when Mr. Brown identified Appellant as having been present at the time of the fight involving Daquan Crawford.

Det. Wallace thereafter visited Mr. Brown sometime between June 4th and June 28th. However, this amounted to little more than a welfare check because Mr. Martin's memory was still somewhat "fuzzy." At that time, Det. Wallace asked Mr. Brown to call if he remembered anything else about the incident. Mr. Brown then called Det. Wallace on June 28th and said that he knew

not address whether a defendant may call the identifying witness at the hearing") (emphasis added).

who had shot him. He then identified Appellant as the shooter on June 29th. So, Mr. Brown had only had spoken with Det. Wallace three times before he called and said that he remembered the shooter was Appellant. The identification from the photographic lineup on the 29th was the fourth true interaction he had with law enforcement and was merely intended to confirm what he had said that he knew: that Appellant shot him.

Third, Appellant asserts on page 12 that Mr. Brown viewed three photographic lineups with Appellant's picture in it. This is contrary to the record, which reflects beyond cavil that he was only shown the same lineup twice. *See* State's pretrial Exs. 11 and 13. (These were introduced at trial as State's Exs. 41 and 43). Fourth, Appellant quotes defense counsel's contention that Mr. Brown's description of the incident " 'has changed from the same person, from didn't see anything to oh, that person was there and around, but, you know, I can't say that person shot me or didn't shoot me, to oh, I'm one hundred percent sure now.' " Again, his claim is, again, exceptionally misleading. Appellant premises this argument on the cross-examination of Sgt. Jackie Lawson from the trial. *R. 99, lines 14-24*. Yet, the transcript of the December 11, 2017 hearing does not contain this evidence. Instead, it unerringly reflects that Mr. Brown discussed what had occurred on the 28th the very first time he spoke with Det. Wallace on the 30th, as discussed.

Fifth, Appellant complains that "the trial court in this case made no specific findings as to why it found the identification procedure, given the totality of circumstances, was not unduly suggestive or why there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification such that the identification was not unreliable." However, this argument is not properly before this Court on appeal because it was not raised below. *See Benton*, 338 S.C. at 157, 526 S.E.2d at 231 (an issue is unpreserved if a defendant argues one ground at trial and a different ground on appeal).

When the record is viewed correctly, it is clear that there is no evidence, whatsoever, that the identification procedure used in each identification was suggestive. The photographic lineups that were shown to Mr. Martin were prepared at the request of the lead detective, and none of the men depicted in the pictures contained in the lineups with Appellant with in it (State's pretrial Exs. 11 and 13) stood out from the others. *Accord State v. Gambrell*, 274 S.C. 587, 590, 266 S.E.2d 78, 80 (1980) ("The six photographs shown to the victim were chosen at random from police files"). All were pictures of persons of comparable size, apparently of similar age, similar appearance, all were African-American, and all had similar physical characteristics. *Accord State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 230, 522 S.E.2d 845, 852 (Ct.App. 1999).

Also, Det. Wallace never expressly or implicitly suggested to Mr. Martin which photograph was the suspected shooter. Instead, Det. Wallace advised Mr. Martin on both occasions that the suspect might or might not be in the lineup, but if he did see the suspect, he should circle the photograph, initial it, and date it. Likewise, Det. Wallace did not show Mr. Martin any individual photographs before he viewed the photographic lineups on June 4th and June 29th. On both June 4th and June 29th, Mr. Martin immediately selected Appellant as the individual he had seen on the early morning of May 28, 2016.

On June 4th, he selected Appellant as being "in close proximity or that was in some shape, form, or fashion involved in the situation." On June 29th, he selected Appellant as the person who had shot him. He did this on both occasions by circling, initialing, and dating his photograph in pretrial State's Exs. 11 and 13, respectively.¹⁸ On both occasions, he did not hesitate in selecting Appellant. Rather, he immediately identified Appellant and he was very certain both times that

¹⁸ Apparently, the photographic line used on the 29th consisted of the same persons as that used on June 4th, but the lineup itself was "clean" and there were no markings on it.

Appellant was person that he had seen. Also, Mr. Martin had called Det. Wallace on June 28th and said that he knew who had shot him before he identified Appellant as the shooter on June 29th.

He likewise told Det. Wallace on the 29th that:

[W]hile he was breaking up the fight or assisting in breaking up the fight, all right, he remembered a voice saying, That's wrong what you're doing to my brother. That ... person saying that is what made him look back to see where that voice is coming from. And that's when he said that he identified Mr. Andre Crawford. And upon that person saying, That's wrong what you're doing to my brother and the minute that he actually looked back is when shots was fired.

R. 25, line 22 – 26, line 8. Further, Mr. Martin told Det. Wallace that he knew Appellant and DaQuan Crawford because they were “regulars” at the club. **R. 26, lines 9-15.**

Although the Court in *Liverman* overruled *State v. McLeod*,¹⁹ and held that the trial court must hold a *Biggers* hearing even when the eyewitness knows a defendant prior to the crime, the Court nevertheless recognized “the fact that an identification witness knows the accused remains a significant factor in determining reliability.” The Court also concluded that “[t]he suggestive nature of [an identification procedure] is mitigated by the witness's prior knowledge of the accused.” *Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427; *see also State v. Spears*, 393 S.C. 466, 481, 713 S.E.2d 324, 331-32 (Ct.App. 2011) (holding that photographic lineups were not unduly suggestive and that no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed when the witness was one “hundred percent sure” the defendant committed the robbery and the witness testified that she recognized the defendant “during the course of the robbery as someone she knew ‘from the neighborhood’ ”). Indeed, the Court in *Liverman* went further and “concur[red] with those jurisdictions that consider the show-up identification procedure, normally considered unduly

¹⁹ *State v. McLeod*, 260 S.C. 445, 196 S.E.2d 645 (1973), *overruled*, *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. 130, 140-41, 727 S.E.2d 422, 427 (2012).

suggestive, as merely confirmatory” where the eyewitness knows the accused prior to the crime. See *Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141-42, 727 S.E.2d at 427-28.²⁰

As the Court explained in *People v. Rodriguez*, 79 N.Y.2d 445, 583 N.Y.S.2d 814, 593 N.E.2d 268, 272 (1992), “A court’s invocation of the ‘confirmatory identification’ exception is thus tantamount to a conclusion that, as a matter of law, the witness is so familiar with the defendant that there is ‘little or no risk’ that police suggestion could lead to a misidentification.” Because Mr. Martin already knew the Crawford brothers, his identification of Appellant on June 29th, through the less suggestive process of a photographic lineup, was “merely confirmatory.” See *Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427. Accordingly, to the extent that there was any possible suggestiveness in the photographic lineups used, Mr. Martin’s prior knowledge of Appellant mitigated that suggestiveness, such that there was no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. *Id.* See also *State v. Spears*, 393 S.C. 466, 481, 713 S.E.2d 324, 331-32 (Ct.App. 2011) (finding that photographic lineups were not unduly suggestive and that no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed when the witness was one “hundred percent sure” the defendant committed the robbery and the witness testified that she recognized the defendant “during the course of the robbery as someone she knew ‘from the neighborhood’ ”).

²⁰ This conclusion is consistent with “[t]he driving force behind *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218 ... (1967), *Gilbert v. California*, 388 U.S. 263 ... (1967) (right to counsel at a post-indictment line-up), and *Stovall*.” *Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 111-12. As the Court explained in *Brathwaite*, “Usually the witness must testify about an encounter with a *total stranger* under circumstances of emergency or emotional stress. The witness’ recollection of the *stranger* can be distorted easily by the circumstances or by later actions of the police.” *Id.* at 112 (emphasis added). See also *Wade*, 388 U.S. at 228 (“Mr. Justice Frankfurter once said: ‘.... The identification of *strangers* is proverbially untrustworthy. The hazards of such testimony are established by a formidable number of instances in the records of English and American trials’ ”) (emphasis added). Obviously, the same concerns are absent when the eyewitness knows the accused.

Although Appellant does not cite to the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Foster v. California*, 394 U.S. 440 (1969), Respondent submits that *Foster* does not require reversal. In *Foster*, the witness did not identify Foster the first time he confronted him, even though there was a suggestive, three man lineup. *Id.* at 441. The most that the witness could say was that "[h]e 'thought' [the accused] was the man, but he was not sure." He was still unable to make a positive identification even after he had spoken to the accused. *Id.*

A week or ten days later, the police arranged yet another lineup. The accused was the only person in that lineup that the witness had previously viewed. After viewing this lineup, the witness made a definite identification. *Id.* at 141-42. The Court found that "this case presents a compelling example of unfair lineup procedures," *id.* at 142. The Court then held that all of the identifications inadmissible and found "[t]he suggestive elements in this identification procedure made it all but inevitable that [the witness] would identify petitioner whether or not he was in fact 'the man.'" *Id.* at 443.

Unlike *Foster*, here Mr. Martin had temporary memory problems as the result of being shot by Appellant. However, he never failed to identify Appellant a having been present at the time of the crime. He simply did not initially say that Appellant had shot him. Moreover, once he regained his memory, it was clear that he knew Appellant from previously seeing Appellant at the club, and he told Det. Wallace that he knew who had shot him before he viewed the second photographic lineup and identified Appellant as the shooter.

Even assuming *arguendo* that this Court finds the evidence does not support Judge Goldsmith's ruling, the trial record reflects that any error in his ruling is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141-44, 727 S.E.2d at 427-29 (finding error in failing to hold *Biggers* hearing harmless where the record demonstrated there was no substantial

likelihood of irreparable misidentification). Det. Wallace's testimony before the jury closely tracked his earlier testimony. *See R. 251, line 12 – 255, line 17; 260, line 5 – 261, line 5; 262, line 1 – 286, line 23.* Mr. Martin's testimony is set forth in the "Statement of Facts," *supra*.

The State likewise elicited testimony relevant to this issue through Dr. William Dutton, the trauma surgeon who treated Mr. Martin at Trident Medical Center, who testified that Mr. Martin

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